2016

**Utah Physicians for a Healthy Environment and Friends of Great Salt Lake, vs. Executive Director of the Utah Department of Environmental Quality and the Director of the Utah Division of Air Quality, in Their Official Capacity, and the Utah Department of Environmental Quality, the Utah Division of Air Quality
:Replacement Opening Brief**

Utah Supreme Court

JURISDICTION

Jurisdiction is provided by Utah Code Ann. §78A-4-103(2)(a)(i)(B).

ISSUES FOR REVIEW

All the issues in this matter concern whether the Executive Director of the Department of Environmental Quality (ED) erred in upholding the permitting decisions by the Director of the Utah Division of Air Quality (Director)¹ authorizing the construction of the Heavy Black Waxy Crude Processing Project (Expansion) at the Holly Marketing and Refining (Holly) Woods Cross Refinery, Davis County (Refinery) and if the ED decided correctly:

I. First Issue

Whether the Director made a defensible determination that the Expansion, which would be constructed in the Salt Lake non-attainment area for the 24-hour fine particulate matter (PM_{2.5}) National Ambient Air Quality Standard (NAAQS), was not a “major modification” and therefore not subject to Utah Admin. Code r.307-403.

Sub-Issue 1: If the Director’s calculation of the “potential-to-emit” (PTE) PM_{2.5} for a subset of the Refinery boilers and heaters based on a suspect “emission factor” 20-25 times smaller than emission rates he had previously deemed the most reliable is legally erroneous, represents an inappropriate departure from prior practice, and lacks foundation in the administrative record (Record).

¹ “Director” refers collectively to the Director of the Utah Division of Air Quality and Utah Division of Air Quality (“DAQ”).

Sub-Issue 2: Whether the Director improperly authorized a credit of 2.19 tons per year (tpy) of PM_{2.5} for the closure of the Propane Pit Flare (PPF) where the credit eclipsed the PM_{2.5} emissions from Holly's remaining, much larger flares and from all the flares at three local refineries and when the Record contained no supporting calculations or monitoring data, but only inconsistencies.

Sub-Issue 3: Did the Director's PTE determination for fluidized catalytic cracking unit 25 (FCCU25) based on a 0.3-lb PM₁₀/1000-lb coke-burned permit limit adequately represent the maximum capacity of the unit to emit PM_{2.5} although the Director did not restrict FCCU25's coke-burn rate, failed to calculate PTE based on "the most pollutant-generating" crude Holly is authorized to process, relied on data from the existing FCCU which utilizes different control technology and processes a different feedstock, and neglected to consider that the new feedstock for FCCU25 would produce more coke.

A. Standard of Review

In reviewing the legal adequacy of the Director's compliance with his permitting responsibilities, this Court will apply Utah Code Ann. §63G-4-403(4), recognizing the agency has "substantial discretion to interpret its governing statutes and rules" and upholding "factual, technical, and scientific agency determinations that are supported by substantial evidence viewed in light of the record as a whole." Utah Code Ann. §19-1-301.5(14)(c); *Murray v. Utah Labor Comm'n*, 2013 UT 38, ¶19, 308 P.3d 461 (agency finding of fact reviewed for substantial evidence). Specifically, this Court will assess whether the Director's PTE calculations and determination of the emission decreases

from the PPF closure are based on an erroneous interpretation of the law, adequately supported by the Record, “contrary to [his] prior practice” and unjustified and unfair or arbitrary and capricious. Utah Code Ann. §63G-4-403(4)(d), (4)(g), (4)(h)(iii)-(iv).

The assessment of the Director’s compliance with Rules 307-401 and 307-403 presents a mixed question of law and fact reviewed to determine if the “agency has erroneously...applied the law.” *Provo City v. Utah Labor Com’n*, 2015 UT ¶9, 345 P.3d 1242; *id.* ¶10 (“[T]he characteristic that distinguishes a mixed question from a question of fact is the existence of an articulable legal issue.”); *id.* ¶16 (“A court cannot resolve” this issue “without applying a legal definition...to the facts of the case.”). As a result, the appellate court will “review the administrative body’s findings of fact under the substantial evidence standard,” while it will “review the law applied to these facts for correctness.” *Provo City*, ¶17; *see also Utah Chapter of the Sierra Club v. Air Quality Board*, 2009 UT 76, ¶14, 226 P.3d 719 (“[M]ixed findings of fact and law, and the agency’s interpretation of the operative provisions of statutory law it is empowered to administer are reviewed under an intermediate standard that considers whether the agency’s determination was rational”); *id.*, ¶13 (“When reviewing an agency’s interpretation of law, we review for correctness[.]”).

Despite any discretion given to the Director’s decision, his best available control technology (BACT) analysis must be supported by substantial evidence, *Sierra Club*, ¶13, and must further the goals of ensuring that the best control technology is adopted, *id.*, ¶45 (“[W]hile the Board has discretion to interpret its own regulations...it must do so with an eye to...ensuring that the best available control technology is adopted.”), and

protecting short-term ambient standards. *Sierra Club*, ¶48.

The ED's November 17, 2014 Final Order is owed no deference. The ED necessarily limited her review to the same administrative record that is before this Court, Utah Code Ann. §19-1-301.5(8)(a), to which she applied the same standard of review that this Court will apply to agency factual determinations. Utah Code Ann. §§19-1-301.5(14); 19-1-301.5(13)(b). Because this is an "on-the-record" case, there was no trial below, no witness testimony and no observation of facts "that cannot be adequately reflected in the record available to appellate courts[.]" *Adoption of Baby B.*, 2012 UT 35, ¶42, 308 P.3d 382.

Therefore, this Court is positioned to undertake an independent evaluation of the Director's permitting decision based on the administrative record and the standard of review articulated above. *See Olenhouse v. Commodity Credit Corp.*, 42 F.3d 1560, 1580 (10th Cir.1994) ("In reviewing the agency's action," on the record, "we must render an independent decision using the same standard of review applicable to the District Court. Once appealed, the District Court's decision is accorded no particular deference."). This is particularly true because the Director's decision must be reviewed on the basis he articulated at the time he made his decision and any post-hoc rationalizations for the permitting decision are unpersuasive. *Id.* 1575.

B. Preservation

This issue was preserved as follows: 1) Sub-Issue 1 (IR008584-95,² IR008597-98); 2) Sub-Issue 2 (IR008595-97, IR009062-63, IR009151); and, 3) Sub-Issue 3 (IR008598-601, IR009077-78, IR009081, IR009151, IR009162).

II. Second Issue

Whether, in authorizing the Expansion, the Director met his permitting obligations under Utah Admin. Code r.307-401-8.

Sub-Issue 1: If, after acknowledging that the flares would be a considerable source of air pollution, particularly of SO₂ and NO_x, during upset conditions at the Refinery, the Director complied with Utah Admin. Code r.301-401-8(1)(b)(vii), 8(1)(a) and 8(5) although he did not impose AO limits on flare emissions or otherwise ensure that the Expansion would not interfere with the maintenance or attainment of short-term NAAQS.

Sub-Issue 2: Did the Director meet the requirements of Utah Admin. Code r.301-401-8(1)(b)(vii), 8(1)(a) and 8(5) although he did not impose short-term limits on the Expansion emission units.

Sub-Issue 3: If the Director's confusing references to the applicability of Subpart Ja to the Expansion, particularly the flares, and his refusal to specify which of the particular terms and conditions of this complex provision apply to the Refinery, meet the requirements of Utah Admin. Code r.301-401-8(1)(b)(vi).

² Utah Physicians attached and incorporated the Mark Hall Comments found at IR008579-602. IR009137.

Sub-Issue 4: Whether, given the evidence in the Record, with the South Flare shut down for reconstruction and all Refinery gases routed to the North Flare, the Record adequately supports the Director's contention that the apparent modification of the North Flare and increase in emissions from the unit did not trigger Subpart Ja or Utah Admin. Code r.307-401-8(1)(a).

A. Standard of Review

This Court will assess Issue 2 under the same standard of review it will apply to Issue 1, with the exception that Utah Code Ann. §63G-4-403(4)(h)(iii) is not relevant to Issue 2.

B. Preservation

This issue was preserved as follows: 1) Sub-Issue 1 and 2 (IR009078-80, IR009089-91, IR009155-57, IR009158-60); 2) Sub-Issue 3 (IR009152-54); and, 3) Sub-Issue 4 (IR009154).

DETERMINATIVE LAW

Utah Admin. Code r.307-401-8 (2012)

Utah Admin. Code r.307-403-3, 4 & 10 (2012)

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. Nature of the Case

Anyone living along the Wasatch Front has experienced our air pollution crisis, particularly wintertime "inversions" that settle on the Salt Lake Valley for extended periods, causing concentrations of fine particulate matter (PM_{2.5}) to skyrocket and giving Utah the dubious distinction of having the nation's worst air quality. We have felt our

eyes and lungs burn, fretted over whether to let our children outside to play, agonized about parents and grandparents with heart problems – even taken them to the emergency room as their symptoms worsened – and watched those with asthma struggle to breathe.

Monitors quantify this public health emergency. Since 2009, the greater Salt Lake area has been formally designated as not attaining the nation's 24-hour PM_{2.5} NAAQS. The Salt Lake City non-attainment area includes Salt Lake, Davis, Weber, Tooele and Box Elder counties. IR008482.³ Because the state could not show that the area would attain the standard by 2015, the Salt Lake non-attainment area will be designated as a “serious” PM_{2.5} non-attainment area as a matter of law by December 2015. 42 U.S.C. § 7513(b)(1), (c)(1).⁴

Our air pollution is serious. In 2013, air quality along the Wasatch Front exceeded the 24-hour PM_{2.5} standard for at least 47 days – sometimes by 100%. This means that for more than a month, our community – including its most vulnerable populations, the young and the old – were subjected to levels of air pollution considerably higher than concentrations deemed unsafe and unhealthy at exposures lasting only 24 hours. *E.g.* IR009139-40.

Salt Lake County is further designated as not meeting the 24-hour PM₁₀ and the SO₂ NAAQS and in recent years, air quality there has exceeded the 8-hour ozone

³ <http://www.epa.gov/pmdesignations/2006standards/final/region8.htm>

⁴ In the Interior West – made up of Utah, Idaho, Montana, Colorado, New Mexico, Arizona, Nevada, Wyoming, Texas, Kansas, North Dakota, South Dakota, Nebraska and Oklahoma – only Utah (with seven counties) and Arizona (with two counties) do not meet the 24-hour PM_{2.5} NAAQS. www.epa.gov/pmdesignations/2006standards/state.htm.

NAAQS, while Davis County is a “maintenance” area for ozone. IR009225; IR008482; IR008566-67; IR009140.

The health consequences of our dirty air are significant. The findings of 3,000 published research papers underscore key concepts now accepted by the medical community worldwide. First, there is no safe level of exposure to particulate pollution and no threshold below which negative health effects disappear. People literally die from exposure. For every 10 $\mu\text{g}/\text{m}^3$ increase in $\text{PM}_{2.5}$ concentrations, community mortality rates rise 14%. IR009140. Therefore, Utah Physicians estimates that 1,400 to 2,000 premature deaths occur every year in Utah from $\text{PM}_{2.5}$. IR009142.

Air pollution has the same extensive, broad-based health consequences as cigarette smoke because the signature physiologic response is the same – low-grade arterial inflammation, narrowing of blood vessels and increased propensity for clot formation, resulting in immediate increases in blood pressure, followed within hours by higher rates of heart attacks and strokes. IR009140-41.

The inflammation caused by $\text{PM}_{2.5}$ affects other organs. Particulate pollution penetrates every cell in the body, but is particularly well-documented in the brain. There, air pollution causes poor neurologic outcomes throughout the age spectrum, including loss of intelligence in children, higher rates of autism, and attention deficit disorders, as well as multiple sclerosis, Alzheimer’s, and accelerated cognitive decline in the elderly. IR009142. Virtually every lung disease is caused or exacerbated, and growth of lung function during childhood can be irreversibly stunted by air pollution exposure. IR009143. Cancers, including childhood leukemia, lung, breast, prostate, cervical, brain

and stomach cancer, occur at higher rates among people exposed to more air pollution, while cancer survival rates are reduced. IR009143.

The blood vessel inflammation caused by air pollution also affects the placenta, arguably representing the most significant public health impact of air pollution. Women who breathe more air pollution have higher rates of adverse pregnancy outcomes, their newborn babies showing increased birth defects, genetic damage, and a life-long disease burden that includes higher rates of metabolic disorders, reactive airway disease, cardiovascular disease, cancer, Alzheimer's and all diseases consequent to immunosuppression. IR009143-44. The alteration of genetic material triggered by pollution can be seen within minutes, underscoring that short-term spikes in air pollution harm developing fetuses. IR009144.

At the center of Utah's Wasatch Front are five refineries, including the Holly facility. These refineries contribute to our air pollution problem by directly emitting PM_{2.5}, as well as the "precursor" pollutants that form fine particulate matter during our inversions – sulfur oxides (SO_x), nitrous oxides (NO_x) and volatile organic compounds (VOCs). These facilities represent a host of additional health risks. For example, when toxic substances are microscopically attached to fine particles, the health consequences are enhanced. Refinery particulate pollution is high in concentrations of attached hazardous air pollutants (HAPs) including heavy metals and polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs). IR009144.

Children living near petrochemical industries have higher PAH levels than adults, contributing to more DNA damage and endangering a more vulnerable population.

Industrial-based pollution is more toxic to DNA than traffic-based pollution. Rates of leukemia are doubled in populations living in the vicinity of oil refineries. Benzene, a primary component of refinery emissions, is carcinogenic and harmful to a developing fetus, causing low birth weight, delayed bone formation, bone marrow damage and low white blood cell and platelet counts. Exposure to benzene near the national standard is associated with sperm aneuploidy. Exposure to petrochemicals, specifically benzene, gasoline, and hydrogen sulfide, is significantly associated with increased frequency of spontaneous abortion. IR009144-45.

Even infinitesimal levels of exposure to PAHs, which are “endocrine disruptors,” may cause “endocrine or reproductive abnormalities, particularly if exposure occurs during a critical developmental window...[L]ow doses may even exert more potent effects than higher doses.” As a result, there are no safe doses for PAHs. IR009145.

In this context – a public health crisis affecting millions of Utahns – the Director issued a permit authorizing Holly to expand its facilities. At a time when the Clean Air Act requires the Director to reduce PM_{2.5}, NO_x, SO₂ and VOC emissions dramatically and bring the Salt Lake Valley into compliance with the NAAQS as “expeditiously as practicable,” 42 U.S.C. §7513(c), he approved project increases in the refinery’s annual emissions of PM_{2.5} by 9.19 tons and PM₁₀ by 9.54 tons, IR008566, annual emissions of the PM_{2.5} and ozone precursors SO₂, NO_x and VOCs by 38, 83 and 32 tons respectively, and annual emissions of CO by 343 tons. IR008565. Annual refinery HAPs emissions will increase by 9.3 tons a year, IR002834, bringing the refinery’s total yearly emissions

of benzene to 1.46 tons, hexane to 5.41 tons, toluene to 1.21 tons, and xylene to 1598 pounds. IR008493.

Moreover, the Director determined that each year the refinery will release significant **uncontrolled** emissions of PM_{2.5} precursors, including 240 tons of SO₂, 8 tons of NO_x and 16 tons of VOCs. IR008561. In the case of SO₂, these emissions will eclipse the relevant permit limit on the **entire** Holly facility – 110 tons of SO₂ each year, IR009245 – by more than 200%. Although these emissions threaten Utah’s ability to comply with the NAAQS, the Director failed to impose emission limits or monitoring and recordkeeping requirements on the flares in order to constrain these substantial predicted “upset” emissions of SO₂, NO_x or VOCs. *E.g.* IR009245-46; IR009249-50.

As a result, at a time when the Director must find every possible emission reduction from every polluting sector, the Director has failed to undertake the analysis and review of the permit applications and the assertions they contain mandated by law and necessary to protect public health. In essence, the Director’s permitting decision is not sufficiently rigorous and is not supported by the Record. The result is a permit that fails to give the citizens of Utah the legal protections to which they are entitled, does not require the control of emissions at the refinery to the extent the law demands, and fails to protect the public from air pollution.

II. Proceedings Below

Because it wanted to expand its refining capacity from 40,000 to 60,000 barrels a day (bpd) and to “accommodate...the processing” of thick and dirty heavy black and yellow waxy crudes, Holly submitted a revised Notice of Intent (NOI) to the Director in

July 2012. IR002798-3590. The Director issued an Intent to Approve (ITA) the NOI on June 5, 2013, IR008449-79, along with a Source Plan Review analyzing the proposal. IR008480-8575. Utah Physicians filed two sets of comments on the Director's plan to authorize the expansion. IR004007-44; IR009046-9173. The Director responded to these and other comments. IR009174-9222. On November 18, 2013, the Director issued an approval order (AO) to Holly, authorizing the construction of the Expansion. IR009223-54.

On December 18, 2013, pursuant to Utah Code §§19-1-301.5, Utah Physicians for a Healthy Environment and FRIENDS of Great Salt Lake (collectively "Utah Physicians") filed a Request for Agency Action (Request) seeking administrative review of the AO. ADJ009257-9373. On December 20, 2013, Utah Physicians moved for a stay of the AO. ADJ009557-96. The matter was assigned to an administrative law judge ("ALJ"), ADJ009601, who recommended denial of the stay in a March 25, 2014 proposed order, ADJ010798-820, Exhibit C, that was adopted by the ED on March 8, 2015. ADJ011035-39, Exhibit D.

On March 11, 2015, after briefing and argument, the ALJ issued another proposed order suggesting dismissal of Utah Physicians' Request. ADJ011536-648, Exhibit E. On March 31, 2015, in a two page decision, the ED adopted the proposed order. ADJ011651-53, Exhibit F. Utah Physicians timely appealed both ED orders to this Court.

III. Statement of Facts

A. NSR Permitting

“The Clean Air Act...aims to ‘protect and enhance the quality of the Nation’s air resources’ by prescribing National Ambient Air Quality Standards (NAAQS), which state and regional authorities are required to either maintain or progress toward.” *Sierra Club*, 2009 UT 76, ¶1. A key component of the Act that Congress deemed necessary to achieve and maintain the NAAQS and protect public health and the environment is the New Source Review (NSR) permitting program. Under NSR, before commencing construction or making modifications, stationary sources must obtain one or more of the following permits: a non-attainment NSR (NNSR) permit, 42 U.S.C. §§7501-15; prevention of significant deterioration (PSD) permit, *id.* §§7470-79; or a minor NSR permit. *Id.* §7410(a)(2)(C). The permits specify what air pollution control devices must be used, what emission limits must be met, and how the facility must be operated. *EPA NSR Workshop Manual* H.1.⁵ Overall, permit conditions establish limits on the types and amounts of air pollution allowed, operating requirements for pollution control devices or pollution prevention activities, and monitoring and recordkeeping requirements. *Id.*

NSR serves two purposes: First, that the addition of new and modified industrial sources does not degrade air quality. *EPA NSR Factsheet* at 1, Exhibit G. In areas with unhealthy air – where NNSR applies – new emissions may not slow progress toward cleaner air, while in areas with clean air, PSD areas, new emissions may not worsen air

⁵ <http://www.epa.gov/nsr/ttnnsr01/gen/wkshpman.pdf>, included on CD.

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