2015

**Utah Physicians for a Healthy Environment and Friends of Great Salt Lake, Petitioners, vs. Executive Director of the Department of Environmental Quality Et Al., Respondents.**

Utah Court of Appeals

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

**4. The Record Contains Substantial Evidence to Support the Executive Director’s Decision to Uphold UDAQ’s Reliance on the NEI Emissions Factor**

Although the record on appeal in this case includes both the Permitting and Adjudicative Records, Petitioners ignore the Final Order on this issue.

[ADJ011622-38.] This omission is fatal to Petitioners’ claim, because the only

---

<sup>15</sup> [ADJ011634 (“In arguing that UDAQ must use the AP-42 emission factors, Petitioners do not defend the accuracy of the AP-42 factors on a technical basis. Nor do they address any of the criticisms, expressed by both EPA and the England Reports, about the inaccuracies of the stack test impinger methods on which the AP-42 factors are based”).]

question for this Court is whether the Executive Director unreasonably approved UDAQ's reliance on the NEI emission factor. With no analysis of the Final Order, Petitioners cannot possibly show that the record does not support UDAQ's use of the NEI factor.

Moreover, on appeal, Rule 24(a)(9) requires Petitioners to marshal the evidence supporting the Final Order on this issue. Petitioners omit much of UDAQ's analysis from the Permitting Record and omit the entire Adjudicative Record, other than a footnoted list of citations that purports to identify "Pertinent Record evidence" but is unaccompanied by any analysis. Opening Br. 31 n.17. This half-measure approach to marshaling violates Section 19-1-301.5(14)(b) and Rule 24(a)(9), and therefore fails to meet Petitioners' burden of persuasion. *See Nielsen*, 2014 UT 10, ¶¶ 40-41.

The evidence that Petitioners identify is merely a selective collection of references to the record that attempts to undermine UDAQ's decision by pointing out the different results between the use of AP-42 and the NEI factor. Opening Br. 29-33. In particular, Petitioners point to UDAQ's permitting forms<sup>16</sup> and guidance,

---

<sup>16</sup> Petitioners attach UDAQ NSR Form 19 to their brief as an example of the agency's alleged "command," Opening Br. 25, that permit applicants use AP-42 or manufacturer's data. *Id.* Ex. H, at p. 3. This document is not in the record and

manufacturer data, and possible AP-42 emissions scenarios in Holly's NOI and reviewed by UDAQ early in the permitting process. *Id.* 25-28. Finally, Petitioners point to an approval order that UDAQ previously issued to Holly. *Id.* 27, 29.

However, these examples paint an incomplete picture of the record. The record contains the England Reports, which provide the technical basis for the NEI factor. Petitioners fail to address meaningfully the England Reports as a whole, and deliberately avoid any discussion of England II. Opening Br. 33 n.18.

Not only do Petitioners fail to address the supporting information for the NEI factor, they also fail to acknowledge the record evidence explaining the considerable vulnerabilities of the AP-42 factors and the manufacturer data on which Petitioners rely, some of which is irrelevant because it does not apply to the type of heaters and boilers for which Holly used the NEI factor. [ADJ011636 (ALJ discussing the incomplete and unexplained nature of the boiler sampling and manufacturer data Petitioners submitted and the dissimilarity of some of the heaters

---

Petitioners' use of it is improper for two reasons. First, Petitioners never raised this argument below, even though the document was reasonably ascertainable during the time of the public comment period. Second, Form 19 is one guidance document among others that permit applicants may consult, but is not a permitting requirement. For example, UDAQ's NOI Guide states that AP-42 "may be used as a reference when applicable." [ADJ010221.]

and boilers).] The Executive Director concluded that “this data does not undermine use of the NEI emission factors.” [*Id.*]

Finally, the record contains UDAQ’s Source Plan Review, [IR008558], and response to public comments on this issue, [IR009216-18 (responses 89-93)], which address Petitioners’ comments regarding the NEI emission factors. Petitioners failed to confront thoroughly this evidence in the Permitting Record where the agency explains the use of NEI factors instead of AP-42 prior to issuing the permit. *See Sierra Club*, 2012 UT 73, ¶12 (petitioner bears the burden of marshaling all of the evidence and “demonstrating that the agency’s factual determinations are not supported by substantial evidence.”). Therefore, Petitioners cannot show that the Executive Director’s determination regarding the use of the NEI factors is not supported by substantial evidence.

To conclude, the Executive Director provided a thorough review of the evidence in the case (which Petitioners fail to challenge), and determined that the use of NEI emission factor was supported by substantial evidence. [ADJ011635.] On the merits, the record in this case supports and adequately explains UDAQ’s decision. Thus, regardless of any previous or concurrent agency use of AP-42, Petitioners have not been substantially prejudiced by UDAQ’s reliance on the NEI factors.



## **5. Petitioners' Other Challenges to the NEI Factors Are Unavailing**

Having failed to meet their burden on their earlier arguments, Petitioners seek to discredit UDAQ's approval of the NEI factors by advancing three final arguments,<sup>17</sup> claiming that 1) the stack testing requirements in the approval order are not enforceable; 2) EPA lacks confidence in the NEI factors, and 3) UDAQ's reliance on the NEI factor violates 42 U.S.C. § 7430. *See* Opening Br. 31-34. All three arguments are wrong and do not show that the Executive Director erred.

---

<sup>17</sup> In just three sentences of argument, Petitioners also claim that the record does not support a claim that the "heaters and boilers" subject to the NEI factor are newer, apparently because FCCU25 had already been used at a refinery in New Mexico. Opening Br. 33. Petitioners fail to acknowledge that although NEI emission factors were used for heaters and boilers, the only example they offer is the alleged previous use of the FCCU25, which is neither a heater nor a boiler. In any event, as UDAQ explained, whether the heaters and boilers are "new" for purposes of applying the NEI emission factor is driven by whether the equipment is subject to the New Source Performance Standards (NSPS), not whether the equipment has previously been in service elsewhere. [IR008558 ("Holly Refinery is proposing to utilize PM10 and PM2.5 emission factors for new (NSPS) combustion sources based on the 2006 EPA published National Emissions Inventory (NEI) Information. Older equipment (non NSPS) emissions will still rely on AP-42 emission factors.".)] Petitioners fail to acknowledge this critical distinction.

**a. Stack Testing is an Enforcement Tool**

Petitioners contend that UDAQ's reliance on stack testing to demonstrate compliance with the emission limits calculated using the NEI emission factors is inappropriate because the stack testing will occur after the Modernization Project is complete. Opening Br. 31-32. However, Petitioners advance an enforcement argument that is not properly before this Court.

Petitioners' argument is premised on the consequences of Holly's possible future failure to comply with its approval order, Opening Br. 32, yet Petitioners also acknowledge that Holly will be held to all limits in its approval order. [ADJ011637 ("[t]he AO imposes an enforceable limit on PM<sub>2.5</sub> emissions from each of the emissions units for which the NEI emission factors were used in an amount equal to the NEI emission factors"; IR009218 (UDAQ response to comments) ("If the stack testing indicates that Holly Refinery cannot comply with these emission factors, it would be out of compliance with its AO . . . .").] Petitioners fail to explain how the limits derived using the NEI factor will not be enforceable when the purpose of those stack test requirements is to provide an additional tool for UDAQ to verify compliance. [IR009218 (UDAQ response to comments) ("UDAQ is

requiring stack testing to verify these emission factors as any regulatory agency would to verify a BACT level that a source is proposing to meet”).]

If Holly fails to meet those limits, it will have to reevaluate its project for Major NSR applicability. [IR009218 (UDAQ response to comments) (“UDAQ acknowledges emission factors have an effect on PSD/Major NSR applicability, and imposes stack testing as a way to ensure the source complies with the terms of the permit”).] As the Executive Director concluded, “UDAQ was reasonable in relying on this limiting factor in its determination that Holly’s project would only be a minor modification for PM.” [ADJ011638.] Petitioners fail to show that these explanations in the record are unreasonable, or that they constitute anything other than a potential enforcement matter between UDAQ and Holly.

**b. Petitioners Erroneously Rely on Statements of EPA Staff**

Petitioners argue that the record “explains why EPA lacks faith in the NEI constants,” offering as support two emails from “EPA experts” whose positions with and authority to speak for EPA are unidentified.<sup>18</sup> Opening Br. 32-33.

---

<sup>18</sup> The Executive Director made the following observation about the two EPA emails: “EPA staff members sent emails to an undisclosed Gmail account discussing the accuracy of the NEI emission factors and the ability of EPA to

Notwithstanding the dubious reliability of this evidence, Petitioners misconstrue its contents. The email from EPA staff member Ron Meyers does not state that the NEI factors were unreliable, but rather that if that data were to be used to generate an updated emission factor, EPA would like to have additional supporting information. [IR008911.] The other email that Petitioners cite, Opening Br. 32-33, does not discuss the NEI factors, but instead states generally that EPA would not develop an emission factor without being provided a test report for the underlying data. [IR009043.] The data underlying the NEI factors was accompanied by test reports. [IR008032.] Consequently, the emails from EPA do not undermine the quality of the NEI factors.

In any event, the Executive Director found that “[t]he cautionary statements regarding the NEI emission factors upon which Petitioners rely, Opening Br. 33 (quoting England Reports), ‘do not suggest in any way that those factors are insufficiently supported by data or should not be used,’ [ADJ011635-36; quoting England II at IR008033], and that “[s]uch cautionary language is generally found in all instances where emission factors are used. [*Id.*] Such statements therefore do not

---

approve new emission factors generally. [IR008911-8922; IR009043.] Neither the attachments to these emails nor the complete emails were included with the comments. [*Id.*]”

undermine the substantial scientific evidence in the record supporting the accuracy of the factors that relied upon by UDAQ. Moreover, UDAQ provided a reasonable basis and explanation for its reliance on the NEI factors, and this Court should defer to the agency's expert judgment pursuant to Section 19-1-301.5(14)(c).

**c. 42 U.S.C. § 7430 Does Not Apply to This Case**

Finally, Petitioners claim, without analysis, that UDAQ's reliance on the NEI factors violates 42 U.S.C. § 7430. Opening Br. 34. Specifically, in this unpreserved argument<sup>19</sup> Petitioners insist that Section 7430 requires that EPA approve any emissions factor that EPA itself did not establish, and that because EPA did not approve the NEI factor used in this case, Petitioners have been denied the notice-and-comment protections required for rulemaking. *Id.*

The Executive Director rejected this argument because Section 7430 only applies to emission factors used "to estimate the quantity of emissions of carbon monoxide, volatile organic compounds, and oxides of nitrogen from sources of such

---

<sup>19</sup> Petitioners fail to acknowledge (or rebut) that the Executive Director found that this legal argument was reasonably ascertainable during the comment period, but not preserved because it was raised for the first time in their briefing on a motion to stay the administrative proceedings. The Executive Director dismissed the claim not only because it was untimely raised, but also because Petitioners did not brief the issue until they filed their Reply before the ALJ. [ADJ011624.]

air pollutants . . . ” 42 U.S.C. § 7430; *see also* [ADJ011628.] The statute says nothing about the use of emission factors to estimate the quantity of PM<sub>2.5</sub> and PM<sub>10</sub>—the only emissions for which Holly used NEI factors to estimate emissions from its heaters and boilers. [ADJ011628.] Petitioners did not then and do not now show that the Executive Director’s legal interpretation of this federal statute is incorrect.

Moreover, EPA has recognized that a state agency may use other methods without obtaining approval under Section 7430, provided the agency supports the method it chooses. [ADJ011629 (citing Public Participation Procedures for EPA Emission Estimation Guidance Materials at 2 (May 1997)).] The complete record contains substantial evidence in support of the NEI factors, and UDAQ reasonably determined that the use of such factors was justified. Petitioners offer no persuasive argument to the contrary.

To conclude, UDAQ’s decision to rely on the NEI factors to estimate PM<sub>2.5</sub> emissions for Holly’s new gas-fired heaters and boilers is reasonable and supported by substantial evidence.

**B. The Executive Director Reasonably Determined That UDAQ Properly Calculated the Emission Decreases From the Closure of the Propane Pit Flare**

Petitioners make a number of arguments that the 2.19 tons per year (tpy) PM<sub>2.5</sub> credit UDAQ allowed Holly for the decommissioning of the propane pit flare (PPF) is unsupported. Opening Br. 34. The Executive Director addressed these arguments and found them unavailing because the emissions credit was based on actual historical inventory data from the flare, as required by applicable law. [ADJ011638-42.] On appeal, Petitioners fail to show that the Executive Director's decision is unreasonable.

As part of its claim, Petitioners allege that "the Record is devoid of any specific emission factors, conversions, equations, calculations, assumptions or monitoring data to substantiate Holly's claimed PPF emissions, *id.*, and that "[a]lthough the Director insists that the PPF PM<sub>2.5</sub> emissions were based on 'actual throughput data,' IR009128, neither he nor Holly provides those data." Opening Br. 36. Petitioners fail to mention that they stipulated to the exclusion of the very calculations and data at issue. [ADJ011642 (citing ADJ011379 (Holly's Surreply); ADJ011331 (Director's Surreply); ADJ011411-412.)]

Petitioners raised this same issue during the adjudication, and the Executive Director found that "Petitioners may not now argue, without having asked to review

the calculations, that the lack of such evidence supports their claim.” [ADJ011642; *see also* ADJ011374.] This same logic applies on appeal. Petitioners do not explain why they should be shielded from the consequence of a stipulation to which they were a party, and therefore contributed to the alleged lack of evidence of which they complain.

In any event, the Executive Director determined that “for purposes of netting emissions in permit applications, the regulations expressly provide that historical inventory information may be used as a baseline for calculating emissions increases and decreases.” [ADJ011641 (citing 40 C.F.R. § 52.21(b)(48)(ii)).] Utah Admin. Code r. 307-150 requires Holly to submit annually to UDAQ an emission inventory that reports actual emissions from its flares and other emission sources. As permitted by the applicable regulations, Holly used the 2008-09 emission inventory reports for the PM<sub>2.5</sub> emissions from the propane pit flare when it netted its overall emissions from the Modernization Project, rather than re-calculating emissions using AP-42 or any other method, as Petitioners claim. [ADJ011639.]

Petitioners have presented nothing to the agency or on appeal that would undermine the deference owed to both UDAQ and the Executive Director on such a highly technical emission calculation, nor have they presented any technical



evidence to undermine the accuracy of the historical inventory information.

Accordingly, this Court should affirm the Final Order on this issue.

**C. The Executive Director Reasonably Upheld UDAQ's FCCU25 PM<sub>2.5</sub> Emissions Estimate**

Though partially unpreserved at the agency level, [ADJ011612-13], Petitioners continue to assert that Holly's and UDAQ's calculation of a maximum coke burn rate of 6200 lbs/hr. resulted in a PTE of 8.15 tpy of PM<sub>2.5</sub>, Opening Br. 39, but that the 8.15 tpy does not reflect the maximum capacity of FCCU25 to emit PM<sub>2.5</sub> because the approval order does not contain a limit on the amount of coke that FCCU25 may burn. *Id.*

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